# RECEIVED

08-26-2016

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

#### **DISTRICT 4**

Case No. 2016 AP 398

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JESSE T. RIEMER,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON REVIEW OF SENTENCING SUBSEQUENT TO DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S PLEA OF GUILTY ON JULY 30, 2015, MILITARY JUDGE DAVID KLAUSER PRESIDING IN A COURT-MARTIAL CONVENED PURSUANT TO THE WISCONSIN CODE OF MILITARY JUSTICE.

### BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

CPT DECLAN J. BINNINGER, JA 412th Trial Defense Team Illinois Army National Guard Attorney for Jesse T. Riemer

State Bar No. 1100261

##

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Is Riemer's sentence following a guilty plea at a court-martial unduly harsh given the evidence and mitigating factors presented to the presiding authority?

General Court Martial Convening Authority Response: No.

2. Did the military judge violate Riemer's right to due process by evidencing his bias during sentencing?

General Court Martial Convening Authority Response: N/A

3. Did the military judge violate Riemer's right to due process by sentencing him based on evidence that was not presented and failing to fully review the mitigating evidence presented?

General Court Martial Convening Authority Response: No.

### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Riemer is seeking oral argument on the issues presented as this Court has not yet addressed sentencing at a court-martial convened pursuant to the Wisconsin Code of Military Justice and has no objection to publication.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case is borne out of a consensual sexual relationship between two members of different ranks of the Wisconsin Army National Guard as well as claims of sexual harassment made by five enlisted female Soldiers against Sergeant First Class ("SFC") Jesse T. Riemer, a male non-commissioned officer and recruiter serving with the Wisconsin Army National Guard, over the course of two years, the latest alleged offense ending in 2014.

On July 30, 2015, SFC Jesse T. Riemer, pled guilty to six specifications and described the facts and circumstances that led to him being charged and ultimately pleading guilty to all six specifications.

First, he established that throughout the course of 2012 he engaged in a text message exchange with Private First Class ("PFC") A.P. during which he discussed a number of topics, one of which was the possibility of a three-way sexual encounter consisting of himself, PFC A.P. and PFC B.J.H. (14: 5-14). Based on this text message exchange, SFC Riemer was charged with violating Article 92 of the Wisconsin Code of Military Justice, Wis. Stat. § 322.092 (violating a general order or regulation). Plea: 12.

Next, SFC Riemer explained that between 2012 and 2014, he and PFC R.R. engaged in a two-year long consensual sexual relationship and that in January of 2012 R.R. jokingly brought up the topic of a three-person sexual encounter between himself, R.R. and T.M. Plea: 18-19. Shortly after engaging in this text message exchange with R.R., SFC Riemer called T.M. to explain that R.R. had consumed too much alcohol and that she, T.M., should disregard anything that R.R. brought up regarding a three-way sexual encounter involving all three of them. Plea:20. It is important to note that no sexual encounter between Riemer, R.R. and T.M. ever took place. (20: 16-18).

Based on the above-described conduct, Riemer acknowledged that his actions could be consistent with violations of Articles 92 and 93 of the Wisconsin Code of Military Justice, Wis. Stat. §§ 322.092; 322.093 (violation of a lawful general order and maltreatment of a subordinate, respectively). Plea: 15; 16-22; 25.

Continuing in his allocution, Riemer went on to describe how, in May of 2012, he was processing a new recruit, B.D., into the Wisconsin Army National Guard and that while processing her recruitment packet he asked her if she had any tattoos, as the Army enacted a tattoo policy in 2009 that could bar recruitment based on the size, number and/or location of a potential recruit's tattoo(s). Plea: 29, 30. B.D. responded that she had a tattoo on her buttocks of the word "DANGER." Plea: 30.

Upon hearing of the description of the tattoo, Riemer laughed and then called another recruiter in his command as the Army also has a policy of documenting pre-existing tattoos and he was not sure what procedure should be followed given the location of B.D.'s tattoo; the recruiter he called also laughed and then instructed Riemer that he did not need to take a picture to document the tattoo, and that a written description would suffice. Plea: 30-31. Riemer then completed the remainder of the recruitment paperwork and processed B.D. into the Wisconsin Army National Guard, where she was serving as a sergeant as of the date of the court-martial. Plea: 26; 31-32. Based on this conduct, Riemer was charged with a violation of Article 134 of the Wisconsin Code of Military Justice, Wis. Stat. § 322.134 (an offense that prejudices good order and discipline or brings discredit upon the armed forces). Plea: 26.

After that, Riemer explained that while at a recruiting booth at a school fair, he met B.J.H. and began talking to her about the Wisconsin Army National Guard. Plea: 35. He followed up with her a few more times, which prompted her eventual enlistment. Plea: 35-36. After she joined the Wisconsin Army National Guard, B.J.H. would occasionally work as a recruiter at events with Riemer and as a result of their working relationship, she "opened up to [Riemer] about a lot of things" and the two became close. Plea: 36. The two also began texting regularly and at some point during these text exchanges B.J.H. started discussing her sexuality. Plea: 37. During one such text exchange, Riemer brought up the topic of a three-way sexual encounter consisting of himself, B.J.H. and A.P., which never occurred. Plea: 37. Riemer further testified that those discussions did not strain their professional relationship and that at some point following those exchanges B.J.H. sought advice from Riemer regarding securing a full-time position with the Wisconsin Army National Guard. Plea: 37. Based on the above text exchange, Riemer was charged with violating Article 134 of the Wisconsin Code of Military Justice, Wis. Stat. § 322.134 (an offense that prejudices good order and discipline or brings discredit upon the armed forces).

Finally, Riemer described the events and circumstances that led to the final charge to which he pled guilty-another violation of Article 134 of the Wisconsin Code of Military Justice, Wis. Stat. § 322.134 (an offense that prejudices good order and discipline or brings discredit upon the armed forces). He testified that in November of 2012 he started teaching a one-credit self-defense class at the University of Stout and that through this class he met R.H., with whom he discussed the benefits of joining the Wisconsin Army National Guard. Plea: 40. Months later, he met with her again after she had been processed into the Wisconsin Army National Guard and offered to take her out for dinner and drinks. Plea: 41-42. Based on this invitation, LTC Klauser found that providency existed to find that Riemer violated Article 134 of the Wisconsin Code of Military Justice, Wis. Stat. § 322.134. Plea: 81-82.

At the sentencing hearing, it was also demonstrated via sworn testimony that throughout his time in the Wisconsin Army National Guard, SFC Riemer set himself apart from other service members and that he was used as a yardstick against which other people were measured. Plea: 100; 106. Further, the military judge heard testimony that: SFC Riemer performed the high-stress, round-the-clock duties of a recruiter so well that he was recognized the best recruiter in the State where he was serving on two different occasions; that he deployed twice with the Wisconsin Army National Guard; that during those deployments he, an enlisted National Guard Soldier, was entrusted to interface with the highest levels of leadership in the U.S. Army including then-Chief of Staff General Raymond Odierno and was personally decorated for his efforts. Plea: 126; 130-132.

Counsels for the government and the defense also moved documentary exhibits into evidence before the close of their respective cases consisting of, from the government, SFC Riemer's enlisted record brief and his military personnel file. Plea: 88-89. A review of these exhibits shows they are 458 pages in length. The defense, likewise, moved to introduce documentary exhibits into evidence, a review of which indicates a total of 89 pages in all. Plea: 139; 146. The only times that Lieutenant Colonel ("LTC") David Klauser had to review these exhibits were the ninety-minute lunch recess that he took subsequent to the government's introduction of its documentary evidence but before the defenses' introduction of its own evidence and the ninety-five total minutes of recess and deliberations during which the defense exhibits were available to him. Plea: 94; 121-22; 171; 177-78.

Following his allocution to the above-facts, the testimony of character witnesses and SFC Riemer himself, closing arguments from the government during which government counsel observed that SFC Riemer's crimes would not constitute criminal conduct in a civilian jurisdiction, defense counsel's closing argument and a fifty-three minute recess for deliberations, LTC Klauser sentenced SFC Riemer to thirty days of confinement, reduction in rank to Private (E1), a forfeiture of pay during the period of confinement and a bad conduct discharge. Plea: 149; 177-79.

In support of his sentence, LTC Klauser cited the fact that Riemer did not apologize to those he harmed as well as the impact that his "predatory" and "inappropriate" actions had on at least six service members. Plea: 179. He also made mention of the fact that he believed Riemer failed in his responsibility to present himself as the "epitome of what it means to be a soldier" and that Riemer's actions demonstrate the need to continue to hold trainings on the importance of preventing sexual harassment and assault, which he acknowledges many service members are tired of attending as they take more time "than we spend with our warrior tasks." Plea: 178-79. He went on to acknowledge that these trainings are referred to as "the worst part of serving." Plea: 179.

Following LTC Klauser's ruling, Riemer sought postconviction relief from the General Court Martial Convening Authority, Major General Donald Dunbar, pointing out that he expressed remorse throughout the sentencing proceedings; arguing that the sentence imposed is excessive; alleging that LTC Klauser did not give due consideration to the mitigation and extenuation evidence submitted by defense counsel; pointing out that victim impact evidence was never offered into evidence at any point during the court-martial proceedings; and offering up three clemency requests for the convening authority's consideration. Post-trial Submission: 1-7.

This appeal follows the General Court Martial Convening Authority's denial of Riemer's post-conviction relief. Post-trial Response: 1-3

#### LEGAL PRINCIPLES

Per Wisconsin Statute 322.056 (2), "a conviction by a general court-martial of any military offense for which an accused may receive a sentence of confinement for more than 1 year is a felony offense." The Wisconsin Manual for Courts-Martial, which was incorporated via Executive Order 2008-244, indicates that the maximum punishment for a violation of Article 92 is two years of confinement. WI Exec. Ord. 2008-244; MCM WI Art. 92, (e)(1) (incorporating MCM US Art. 92(e)(1)). The other charges that SFC Riemer pled guilty to carry equally felonious consequences as the

maximum confinement allowable under the MCM for a conviction based on a violation of Article 93 is one year and under Article 134 (fraternization) the maximum confinement allowed is two years. MCM WI Art. 93 (e); MCM WI Art 134 (fraternization) (e) (incorporating MCM US Art. 93(e); MCM US Art 134 (fraternization)). While a court-martial conviction would typically be appealed to the Court of Military Review or Court of Military Appeals, (10 U.S.C. 866; 10 U.S.C. 867) since SFC Riemer was convicted under the Wisconsin Code of Military Justice ("WCMJ"), his only appellate remedy is to address his plea for recourse to "the Wisconsin Court of Appeals and, if necessary, to the Wisconsin Supreme Court." Wisconsin Statute 322.0675.

As an appeal under the WCMJ is a case of first impression in the Wisconsin Court of Appeals, there has not yet been a determination whether military law or Wisconsin state law should govern. While SFC Riemer concedes it would be consistent with the WCMJ to apply Wisconsin state case law regarding the analysis of the issues, procedurally this court should adopt the military standard of de novo review so as to maintain consistency with federal case law. Accordingly, both military legal decisions and Wisconsin state ones will be included in the analysis as full understanding of the issues in this case requires application of both sources of law.

#### ARGUMENT

In the present case, LTC Klauser handed down a felony conviction for what the government counsel admitted would not have constituted any crime at all had SFC Riemer pursued another line of work. While his employment admittedly subjected him to another code of conduct that has no jurisdiction over the vast majority of Wisconsinites, that does not mean that, absent a legally recognized special relationship, a military judge is entitled to hand down a decision that is any more severe than his civilian counterparts throughout the State are.

It goes unsaid that military service members are held to a higher standard and that part of that standard requires them to be ever-vigilant of the impact their actions could have on those around them—specifically those who are ordered to look to them for guidance.

It is this voluntary assumption of great responsibility that prompts the immediate and deep-seated respect that Americans have for those serving in uniform. However, it is equally important to remember that one of the aspects of the United States military that sets it apart from its international peers is its insistence on civilian oversight. Since our country's inception, the highest ranking member of the armed services has not worn a uniform; rather he command has the military at the will of the citizens of the United States who elected him to the office of the President. This point is significant as it drives home the fact that our fighting forces, ultimately rely on civilians for guidance and direction on how to perform their mission.

Consistent with this theme, the WCMJ appointed the Wisconsin Court System as the final referee of the Wisconsin National Guard's actions. Accordingly, SFC Riemer should be sentenced as any other defendant in Wisconsin would; and based on that standard, LTC Klauser's sentence is inappropriate and should either be reduced or set aside.

I. The military judge exceeded his discretion in imposing an unduly harsh and unreasonable sentence on SFC Riemer. The above facts constitute the entirety of those presented to the military judge and when evaluated in their totality they do not support his decision to impose what amounts to a felony conviction and a month-long jail sentence.

No matter the jurisdiction, in order for a sentence handed down to be appropriate, it must balance retribution with rehabilitation, ever taking into consideration the likelihood of recidivism and any danger that an offender may pose to the public at large. Judged against this well-settled standard, the sentence that LTC Klauser imposed and that the convening authority approved is clearly harsh and excessive and should be reduced.

#### A. Military Law Analysis

A military court of criminal appeals may affirm only a sentence or such part or amount of the sentence as it finds correct in law and fact and determines, on the basis of the entire record, should be approved. 10 U.S.C. 866(c). This required inquiry is supported by a "highly discretionary power to determine whether a sentence should be approved." *United States v. Lacy*, 50 M.J. 286, 287 (C.A.A.F. 1999). As such, a military court of criminal appeals may only affirm a sentence it independently determines is appropriate. *United States v. Baier*, 60 M.J. 382, 384 (C.A.A.F. 2005).

Sentence appropriateness should be "evaluated through individualized consideration of the particular accused on the basis of the nature and seriousness of the offense and the character of the offender." *United States v. Roukis*, 60 M.J. 925, 930 (Army Ct. Crim. App. 2005) (quoting *United States v. Snelling*, 14 M.J. 267, 268 (C.M.A. 1982)). Therefore, a soldier should not receive a more severe sentence than otherwise generally warranted by the offense, the circumstances surrounding the offense, his acceptance or lack of acceptance of responsibility for his offense, and his prior record. Id. (quoting *United States v. Aurich*, 31 M.J. 95, 97 (C.M.A. 1990).

Judged by this standard, SFC Riemer acted as was to be expected of a military service member pleading guilty in a court-martial. As LTC Klauser admitted, Riemer accepted responsibility for his actions (Plea: 178) and has no prior record of criminal history. As such, this court should only affirm as much of the sentence as is appropriate.

In this case, the military judge had the discretion to administer punishment ranging from non-judicial (e.g., reprimand, fine, reduction in rank) to a maximum number of years of confinement and a dishonorable discharge. Plea: 50; See MCM WI, Article 58a (incorporating 10 U.S.C. 58a and R.C.M. 1002). In spite of this wide latitude available to him in sentencing, the military judge decided to impose what amounted to a felony conviction.

Similar to the military judge's authority, this court can now exercise the discretion that was originally available to LTC Klauser and find that based on SFC Riemer's lengthy and stellar service record, his decision to take responsibility for his actions and the nature of the crimes at issue, that the very convening of the General Court Martial is punishment enough.

Should this court seek to impose further punishment than that, nothing more than reduction in rank is appropriate. Such a disposition accomplishes the goal set out by the government and acknowledged by the military judge—to punish SFC Riemer for his actions; however, it also allows him the possibility of rehabilitation, which was specifically foreclosed to him by the military judge's sentence.

#### 1. Wisconsin State Law Analysis

"It is a well-settled principle of law that a circuit court exercises discretion at sentencing." State v. Gallion, 2004 WI 42, p. 17, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197. In fact, a circuit court has the discretion to impose a sentence of any length within the range set by statute. Ocanas v. State, 70 Wis. 2d 179, 185, 233 N.W.2d 457 (Wis. 1975). However, "[discretion] contemplates a process of reasoning. This process must depend on facts that are of record or that are reasonably derived by inference from the record and a conclusion based on a logical rationale founded upon proper legal standards." McCleary v. State, 49 Wis. 2d 263, 277, 182 N.W.2d 512 (Wis. 1971). A court goes beyond discretion in sentencing when it imposes a sentence which is "so excessive and unusual and so disproportionate to the offense committed as to shock public sentiment." Ocanas, 70 Wis. 2d 179 at 185.

Moreover, while the trial court has great latitude in passing sentence, "[t]he exercise of sentencing discretion must be set forth on the record." *Gallion*, 2004 WI 42 at p. 4. Specifically, "[c]ircuit courts are required to specify the objectives of the sentence on the record. These objectives include, but are not limited to, the protection of the community, punishment of the defendant, rehabilitation of the defendant, and deterrence to others." *Id.* at p. 40.

With these factors in mind, the sentence imposed by the court must call for the minimum amount of custody or confinement necessary to protect the public and address the gravity of the offense and rehabilitative needs of the defendant. *Id.* at p. 44.

In this case, there is little doubt that sentencing an individual to a felony conviction and thirty days in jail for

sending illicit text messages and unprofessional conduct would shock public sentiment and would invariably call into question whether it was the right action given the circumstances. Riemer's defense counsel argued this to LTC Klauser during his closing argument, pointing out that the exact sentence that Klauser eventually imposed was unnecessary and therefore unlawful, instead requesting a reduction in rank in the event that the military judge wanted to impose a sentence. Plea: 165-66.

After applying the above-enumerated factors (i.e., the protection of the community, punishment and rehabilitation of the defendant and deterrence to others), which must be discussed on the record in order for a sentence to be proper, LTC Klauser's imposition of a felony conviction and a month-long jail sentence does not comport with Wisconsin state law.

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