RECEIVED

10-26-2016 STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2016AP398

IN THE GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL CASE OF SERGEANT FIRST CLASS JESSE T. RIEMER, WISCONSIN ARMY NATIONAL GUARD, RECRUITING AND RETENTION BATTALION. MADISON, WISCONSIN:

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Respondent,

JESSE T. RIEMER,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CONVICTIONS AND SENTENCE RENDERED BY A GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL AND APPROVED BY THE CONVENING AUTHORITY UNDER THE WISCONSIN CODE OF MILITARY JUSTICE, THE HONORABLE LT. COLONEL DAVID KLAUSER AND THE HONORABLE MAJOR GENERAL DONALD P. DUNBAR, PRESIDING

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF-IN-CHIEF

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

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

Riemer believes the military judge didn't adequately explain how his sentence serves principles of deterrence and rehabilitation. (Riemer's Br. 13.)

In Wisconsin, sentencing courts determine the factors relevant to the defendant and the case, and the weight each factor receives. *Stenzel*, 276 Wis. 2d 224, ¶ 16. The State has shown the military judge adequately explained his sentence.

While the judge didn't explicitly discuss general deterrence, Riemer's sentence promotes it. The possibility of 30 days confinement and a bad conduct discharge—or worse—will deter other members of the Wisconsin Army National Guard from engaging in behavior like Riemer's.

The prosecutor made that argument at sentencing (Vol. 1 152), and the judge apparently took it to heart.

The military judge didn't explicitly discuss Riemer's prospects for rehabilitation, either. But that doesn't require this Court to set aside or modify the sentence.

By discharging Riemer, the military judge implicitly concluded he wasn't a good candidate for rehabilitation. Not all defendants are, and the evidence suggests Riemer falls squarely into that category. If Riemer's status as a stellar soldier didn't deter him from committing his offenses in the first place. it's hard to understand why those accomplishments would give the judge any confidence that the Wisconsin Army National Guard could rehabilitate Riemer.

It ill-serves the public interest to retain a soldier who engaged in inappropriate sexualized conduct for two years and who—despite knowing his conduct was bad and wrong kept right on going. Removing Riemer from the military environment served the public by punishing his wrongdoing and removing him from a "target-rich environment" of young female subordinates. Nadia Klarr, Zero Tolerance or Zero Accountability? Examination Anof Command Discretion and the Need for an Independent Prosecutorial Authority in Military Sexual Assault Cases, 41 U. Dayton L. Rev. 89, 93 (2016) ("Brigadier General Loree Sutton, a psychiatrist in the U.S. Army, indicates that because the military is a relatively closed system, the military is a prime 'target-rich environment' for a sexual predator").

In Riemer's case, the price of failed rehabilitation was too high to pay.

Riemer also suggests his resulting status as a felon should somehow shock the conscience. (Riemer's Br. 13-14.)

That complaint implicates matters of public policy and legislative decision-making, not sentencing discretion.

It is within the legislature's prerogative to decide which crimes are serious and to fashion an appropriate sentence. The task of defining criminal conduct is entirely within the legislative domain and, within constitutional limitations, the legislature possesses the inherent power to prohibit and punish any act as a crime.

State v. Heidke, 2016 WI App 55, ¶ 17, 370 Wis. 2d 771, 883 N.W.2d 162 (citation, ellipses, and internal quotation marks omitted).

Riemer disagrees with the Legislature's decision to give his convictions at court-martial felony status. His complaint is with that body; his remedy, an executive pardon. Wis. Const. art. V, § 6.

And finally, even if this Court adopts and applies the federal standards that govern active duty servicemembers, Riemer's sentence remains reasonable.

Under those standards, this Court should affirm "only such findings of guilty and the sentence or such part or amount of the sentence, as it finds correct in law and fact and determines, on the basis of the entire record, should be approved." UCMJ art. 66(c). This Court should assess sentence appropriateness by considering the particular appellant, the nature and seriousness of the offenses, the appellant's record of service, and all matters contained in the record of trial. *United States v. Healy*, 26 M.J. 394, 395—

96 (C.M.A. 1988); *United States v. Snelling*, 14 M.J. 267, 268 (C.M.A. 1982).

Although this Court would possess great discretion in deciding whether Riemer received an appropriate sentence, it would lack the authority to exercise clemency. *United States v. Nerad*, 69 M.J. 138, 146 (C.A.A.F. 2010). "Sentence appropriateness involves the judicial function of assuring that justice is done and that the accused gets the punishment he deserves. Clemency involves bestowing mercy—treating an accused with less rigor than he deserves." *Healy*, 26 M.J. at 395.

The State has already proven the appropriateness of Riemer's sentence, one he richly deserved. Justice has been done. All that's left to Riemer now is his hope that this Court may show him clemency or mercy.

Even if military law applies, he's entitled to neither. *Healy*, 26 M.J. at 395.

His sentence should stand.

III. The military judge didn't demonstrate objective bias at sentencing.

Riemer claims two comments made by the military judge at sentencing demonstrate objective bias:

• The judge's reference to recruiters as "the epitome of what it means to be a soldier, to serve, and to be a member of the Wisconsin National Guard." (Vol. 1 178.)

Riemer says this implies the military judge held him "to a higher standard than many members of the Wisconsin Army National Guard because of the public nature of his duties." (Riemer's Br. 15.)

• The judge's reference to Riemer's conduct demonstrating the need for continued sexual misconduct prevention ("SHARP") training in the Wisconsin Army National Guard, and the sentiment among "many" servicemembers that such training diverts attention from "our warrior tasks," and is "the worst part of serving." (Vol. 1 179.)

Riemer says this implies the military judge punished him because his conduct "will lead to more mandatory requirements that the military judge deems unnecessary." (Riemer's Br. 16.)

His claims don't withstand scrutiny.

Those charged with criminal offenses are entitled to "an impartial and unbiased judge." *State v. Bell*, 62 Wis. 2d 534, 536, 215 N.W.2d 535 (1974). The existence of judicial bias presents a question of constitutional fact reviewed de novo. *State v. Neuaone*, 2005 WI App 124, ¶ 16, 284 Wis. 2d 473, 700 N.W.2d 298.

Reviewing courts presume judges act fairly, impartially, and without bias. *State v. Gudgeon*, 2006 WI App 143, ¶ 20, 295 Wis. 2d 189, 720 N.W.2d 114. Riemer must demonstrate bias by a preponderance of the evidence. *Neuaone*, 284 Wis. 2d 473, ¶ 16.

Either subjective or objective bias "can violate a defendant's due process right to an impartial judge." Gudgeon, 295 Wis. 2d 189, ¶ 20. Riemer alleges only objective bias.

Objective bias can exist in two situations. Traditionally, courts consider whether "there are objective facts demonstrating . . . the trial judge in fact treated [the defendant] unfairly." *State v. Herrmann*, 2015 WI 84, ¶ 27, 364 Wis. 2d 336, 867 N.W.2d 772 (citations omitted).

Also, "[t]he right to an impartial decisionmaker stretches beyond the absence of actual bias to encompass the appearance of bias as well." Id. ¶ 30. "When the appearance of bias reveals a great risk of actual bias, the presumption of impartiality is rebutted, and a due process violation occurs." Id. ¶ 46.

Judicial comments that reflect personal feelings don't automatically establish objective bias. In Hermann, the judge made personal comments about her sister being killed by a drunk driver while sentencing the defendant for homicide by intoxicated use of a vehicle. The Wisconsin Supreme Court concluded the judge made those statements "to illustrate the seriousness of the crime and the need to deter drunk driving in our society" and didn't express bias against Hermann. Id. ¶ 60. Hermann failed to rebut the presumption of impartiality because the statements, viewed in context, didn't reveal a great risk of actual bias. Id. ¶ 68.

Riemer's two examples—the military judge's reference to Riemer's recruiter status and the need for additional SHARP training—don't prove or suggest actual bias.

The military judge could reasonably consider Riemer's status as a recruiter when imposing sentence. *Thompson*, 172 Wis. 2d at 265-66. As such, he served as the public face of the Wisconsin Army National Guard. Prospective and new servicemembers would look to him for guidance. Regrettably, some became his victims. The judge's comments reflected a proper sentencing consideration, not bias.

And the military judge's remarks about SHARP training don't prove or suggest actual bias. In context, they reflect legitimate judicial concern about the appropriate sentence for a defendant who, in spite of the Wisconsin Army National Guard's efforts to combat sexual misconduct, still behaved disgracefully toward young female subordinates.

They also reflect legitimate judicial concern about the broader consequences of Riemer's conduct. The judge believed that conduct demonstrated the need for and would lead to the imposition of more and/or better SHARP training. SHARP training that, while vitally necessary, didn't directly involve the primary fighting tasks performed by servicemembers, and is considered an unwelcome burden by some servicemembers.

The comments don't demonstrate bias. They demonstrate the military judge's belief that, when it comes to combating sexual misconduct in the Wisconsin Army National Guard, more needs to be done.

But even if this Court considers the military judge's statements as expressions of his personal irritation with Riemer for bringing more SHARP training down upon him, that doesn't establish bias. "[A] judge's negative comments do not automatically equal bias[.]" *State v. Pirtle*, 2011 WI App 89, ¶ 34, 334 Wis. 2d 211, 799 N.W.2d 492.

"[J]udicial remarks during the course of a trial that are critical or disapproving of, or even hostile to, counsel, the parties, or their cases, ordinarily do not support a bias or partiality challenge[.]" *Liteky v. United States*, 510 U.S. 540, 555 (1994). Neither do "expressions of impatience, dissatisfaction, annoyance, and even anger, that are within the bounds of what imperfect men and women . . . sometimes display." *Id.* at 555, 556. Rather, the challenged remark

must "reveal such a high degree of favoritism or antagonism as to make fair judgment impossible." *Id.* at 555.

The most Riemer can say is the military judge didn't relish the prospect of additional SHARP training, and other servicemembers might not either. That doesn't mean he harbored antagonism toward Riemer that made fairness impossible. If the judge possessed such a high degree of antagonism toward Riemer, why did he refer to him as a "good soldier" when considering his character? (Vol. 1 178.) Why did he impose a term of confinement measured in days, rather than years? Why didn't he impose a dishonorable discharge?

Riemer hasn't overcome the presumption of fairness and impartiality.

Nor has Riemer proven that the military judge had a preconceived, inflexible sentencing policy involving court-martialed National Guard recruiters, or servicemembers court-martialed for conduct similar to Riemer's. See State v. Ogden, 199 Wis. 2d 566, 571, 544 N.W.2d 574 (1996). The judge never said or implied that in such situations, he believed mitigation was impossible. He never said or implied that he always imposed, at minimum, a term of confinement and a bad conduct discharge in such situations. Again, the significant disparity between the maximum possible sentence and the sentence imposed suggests the judge did consider factors in mitigation, though not giving them as much weight as Riemer would have preferred.

The record doesn't demonstrate bias or a preconceived, inflexible approach to sentencing.

IV. The military judge's treatment of evidence presented in mitigation and his comments regarding victim impact didn't violate Riemer's right to due process.

In addition to the due process right to an unbiased judge—which applies to all stages of his proceeding—Riemer has three due process rights specifically related to sentencing: (1) presence and allocution; (2) representation by counsel; and (3) a sentence based on true and correct information. *Bruneau v. State*, 77 Wis. 2d 166, 174-75, 252 N.W.2d 347 (1977).

In his final argument, Riemer claims the military judge violated due process by failing to consider all the evidence presented in mitigation, and by making unproven assumptions regarding the negative effect his conduct had upon his victims. (Riemer's Br. 16-19.) Riemer believes that, given the many pages of documentary evidence he submitted and the amount of time the military judge had it before sentencing, the judge probably didn't read it all. (Riemer's Br. 17.)

The State has several responses.

First, Riemer cites no authority supporting the proposition that due process requires a sentencing court to consider every piece of evidence a defendant offers in mitigation. This Court shouldn't abandon its neutrality to develop a proper argument for Carter. See Indus. Risk Insurers v. American Eng'g Testing, Inc., 2009 WI App 62, ¶ 25, 318 Wis. 2d 148, 769 N.W.2d 82; State v. Pettit, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646–47, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992).

And it's a dubious proposition. A defendant has no right, constitutional or otherwise, to "present any and all evidence he or she wishes to present" at sentencing. See

State v. Robinson, 2001 WI App 127, ¶ 22, 246 Wis. 2d 180, 629 N.W.2d 810. The reason is obvious. A defendant can't inundate a sentencing court with paper, and later seek a new sentence because the judge didn't read it all.

Second, the cases cited by Riemer regarding his right to a sentence based on true and correct information have little applicability here. (Riemer's Br. 18-19.) He points to no factually incorrect evidence considered by the military judge in imposing sentence, such as a presentence investigation report that inaccurately lists the number of a defendant's prior convictions. *State v. Lechner*, 217 Wis. 2d 392, 419-420, 576 N.W.2d 912 (1998).

The best Riemer can do is assert that, because the military judge didn't look at every piece of paper he presented, the judge may have had a mistaken belief regarding the amount of evidence in mitigation. That doesn't establish a constitutional violation. "The Supreme Court has never vacated a sentence (other than a capital sentence) because of reliance on mistaken beliefs about the facts, unless there was an independent constitutional reason why this kind of fact was a sort of thing that could not be relied upon." *United States v. Turner*, 864 F.2d 1394, 1400 (7th Cir. 1989).

Third, the military judge had an ample evidentiary basis upon which to mitigate Riemer's sentence. He heard Riemer's allocution and the testimony of two other witnesses in mitigation of sentence. (Vol. 1 96-138.) In particular, Riemer's allocution focused on the laudable aspects of his military service. (Vol. 1 124-138.) And given the large disparity between the potential maximum sentence and the sentence imposed, it's fair to assume the judge *did* mitigate the sentence. The most Riemer can say is the judge didn't give his evidence "the overriding and mitigating significance

that he would have preferred." Stenzel, 276 Wis. 2d 224, \P 16.

Finally, the military judge's reference to adverse victim impact doesn't justify sentence modification. Any error was harmless because the appellate record fully demonstrates the adverse impact Riemer's conduct had on his victims.

Riemer believes the italicized statement by the military judge lacks evidentiary support:

By my count, there are at least six [servicemembers] that you have adversely impacted by your actions, and they should have been protected against your actions, which were inappropriate and predatory in nature.

(Vol. 1 179, cited in Riemer's Br. 1-19.)

While the prosecution presented no affirmative evidence of adverse victim impact at sentencing, the record leaves no doubt Riemer's conduct "adversely impacted" his victims.

Harmless error analysis applies to nonstructural sentencing errors. *State v. Travis*, 2013 WI 38, ¶¶ 51-73, 347 Wis. 2d 142, 832 N.W.2d 491. An error is harmless if it doesn't affect the defendant's substantial rights. Wis. Stat. § 805.18. That standard applies whether the error is constitutional, statutory, or otherwise. *State v. Harvey*, 2002 WI 93, ¶ 40, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189.

"The State can meet its burden to prove harmless error by demonstrating that the sentencing court would have imposed the same sentence absent the error." *Travis*, 347 Wis. 2d 142, ¶ 73. The State can't speculate about what a

hypothetical court would do at a future sentencing, and it can't rely on any post-sentencing assurances by the judge that, if he got the case again, he'd impose the same sentence. *Id.* The military judge gave no such assurances here.

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